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Nothing great was 
ever acheived without 

a good team.
“ “
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Vision: 
To be the leading business 

enabler, generating sustainable 
investments for the 

transformative development of 
the economy of Saint Lucia.

Mission: 
To advance Saint Lucia’s 

socio-economic development 
by promoting, stimulating 

and facilitating direct 
investment while making a 
reasonable return on assets. 

Vision, Mission & Strategic Objectives
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Value Proposition: 
Leveraging our knowledge and 

assets to provide expert solutions 
to establish and grow your 

investment.

We will advance the socio-economic 
development of Saint Lucia by: 

Targeting high impact projects in tourism, 
manufacturing, agriculture, business process 
outsourcing and real estate development that 
will enable linkages with the wider society

Forging partnerships with key promotion 
agencies such as the Saint Lucia Tourism 
Authority, Export Saint Lucia and the 
Citizenship by Investment Programme to 
create a united front for the promotion of 
Saint Lucia as the location of choice for 
investments, visitors and exports.

Engaging key government agencies to 
highlight our common purpose of advancing 
the country’s socio-economic development.  

Developing programs that enable land 
ownership by Saint Lucians in order to 
improve the socio-economic return on assets

Strengthening our execution capabilities 
by aligning our people, structure, processes, 
culture and leadership to our mission, vision 
and strategy.

Using technology to enhance the efficiency of 
our operations.

Invest Saint 
Lucia Strategy 
Statement:
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Chairman’s Message

 In an attempt to strengthen our efforts to fulfil 
the mission of the organisation, the decision was 
taken to review Invest Saint Lucia’s focus, and take 
a new strategic direction to support Saint Lucia’s 
economic development. With a new CEO on board 
and a renewed focus in 2019, the agency was able 
to guide its direction along with the board and 
executive management team.

 
After exploring global and local trends in 

investment and best practices, we created 
strategies intended to attract increased 
investment in targeted sectors, and to increase the 
number of landowners in Saint Lucia. The result 
was a two-year strategic plan for 2019 to 2020, in 
which five strategic initiatives were outlined. 

Realising that the agency was moving in a new 
direction, ISL decided to take the country brand 
and go a step further in rebranding the agency.  A 
new logo alone was not going to get us there. Invest 
Saint Lucia needed something more holistic and 
hence did a brand metamorphosis—a strategic 
answer to a new era. We now premise ourselves 
on being a purpose-driven, vision-focused and 
professional investment promotion agency, 
that advances Saint Lucia’s socio-economic 
development by promoting, stimulating and 
facilitating direct investment while making a 
reasonable return on assets. We are a leading 
business enabler, generating sustainable 
investments for the transformative development 
of the economy of Saint Lucia. 

ISL is a multi-faceted investment promotion 
agency which possesses a portfolio of projects 
geared towards stimulating foreign direct 
investment, catering to the local market and 
providing support services for local businesses 
and entrepreneurs. Invest Saint Lucia continues 
to build its competitive advantage and will always 
seek to target high impact projects in tourism, 
manufacturing, agriculture, business process 
outsourcing and real estate development that will 

enable linkages with the wider society. 

The agency’s investment promotion efforts 
continued with many successes being recorded 
as a result. The outsourcing sector accounts 
for close to 8% of the island’s GDP, and we have 
seen an increase in this sector as Saint Lucia 
has become more attractive as an investment 
destination. Since the initial installment of the 
first contact centre over a decade ago, Invest 
Saint Lucia has taken the traditional approach to 
targeting investment in this sector, participating 
in some major international conferences in an 
effort to promote the island as a leading location 
for business and knowledge process outsourcing 
investment. 

ISL’s efforts at investment promotion and 
facilitation are directly aligned with the 
government’s national economic development 
strategy. With this in mind, the organisation will 
work towards fast-tracking priority investment 
projects and developing targeted sector road 
maps; implementing innovative marketing 
programmes and continue the execution of key 
strategic projects. 

To successfully execute the strategy, we had 
to embark on identifying and developing talent 
from within the organisation who was ready to 
step up to the challenge.  We also went outside 
the organisation to recruit and we sought after 
skills that was required in order to embark on this 
journey.

On behalf of the board of directors and the team 
at ISL, I wish to express appreciation to those 
individuals and companies that have utilized 
the services of Invest Saint Lucia over the year. 
Equally important, I would like to extend to the ISL 
team the thanks of the board of directors for their 
commitment to excellence and exemplary work 
during the year.
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Mr. Pinkley Francis
Chairman of Invest Saint Lucia
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Pinkley Francis is the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of Invest 
Saint Lucia. He is owner and CEO of 
SIXT Car Rental St. Lucia, Europe’s 
fastest-growing rental car agency, 
and Innovative Business Solutions 
St. Lucia Inc., a technology 
integrator and business solutions 
enterprise. Francis is also a 
Director at Island Marine Supplies, 
the sole distributor for Mercury 
Marine in Saint Lucia. 

Prior to becoming self-employed, 
Francis spent over fifteen years in 
the private sector, holding several 
senior managerial positions with 
Cable & Wireless. For two years, 
he was the Country Manager for 
Antilles Crossing and TeleStLucia, a 
wholesale internet service provider. 

He holds an MSC in Information 
Systems Management from 
the University of Sheffield and 
specializes in New Business 
Development, Telecommunications, 
Negotiations, Strategic Planning, 
Business Development, Project 
Management, and Change 
Management. 

Jodi Boodhoo is the Deputy 
Chairman on the Board of 
Invest Saint Lucia, a post he 
has previously held. He is a co-
founder and Director of Business 
Development at AVANCE, a 
boutique deal structuring and 
project finance consultancy. A 
former member of the Saint Lucia 
Tourist Board, he has assisted with 
the development of the island’s 
export development strategy. 

Boodhoo holds a BA in Political 
Science, an LLB and LLM. He keeps 
active in national service and 
charitable drives, and is passionate 
about development issues. 

Paula Valerie James is the 
Executive Director of the Saint 
Lucia Manufacturers Association. 
She brings over thirty years 
of banking experience to ISL’s 
Board, having worked in the 
sector both locally and regionally. 
She served as a member of the 
Public Service Commission for 
five years; Chairman of the Tax 
Appeal Commission for six years, 
and as Coordinator of the National 
Volunteer Programme during the 
staging of Cricket World Cup 2007. 

James is a recipient of the Saint 
Lucia Les Piton Medal and has also 
been bestowed with the Melvin 
Jones Fellowship – the highest 
award attainable from the Lions 
Clubs International for Dedicated 
Humanitarian Service. James is 
dedicated and passionate about 
community service and youth 
development. 

Jodi Boodhoo

Director

Paula Valerie James

Director

Pinkley Francis

Chairman

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Modestus Louis

Director

Ronald James

Director

Modestus Louis brings a wealth 
of knowledge in immigration/
border control and security to 
Invest Saint Lucia’s Board of 
Directors, having spent the last 
twenty years as a law enforcement 
officer. This is coupled with a 
decade’s worth of practice as a 
security specialist with a leading 
business organization in Saint 
Lucia.

Louis has worked in public 
relations and boasts a three-year 
stint as a radio talk-show host and 
customer service trainer. However, 
all of this is a distant second to 
his burning desire to see Saint 
Lucia succeed and live up to its 
true potential. He believes strongly 
that a nation which can produce 
two Nobel Laureates and movers 
and shakers on the international 
scene - from the meagre resources 
of sea water and sand - is a nation 
with the ability to be a world-
class leader. The desire to see this 
fulfilled is his driving force. 

Imelda Smith-St. Ange is a 
retired Bank Manager who spent 
30 years working with Bank of 
Nova Scotia and 7 years in the 
Industrial Relations Department 
at Winera Ltd. She has a wealth of 
knowledge in Banking & Financing. 

During her tenure as Bank 
Manager, Smith-St. Ange gained 
international, regional and local 
training in Banking, Sales and 
Service Coaching, Operational 
and Financial Risk Management, 
and Anti-Money Laundering and 
Compliance. She holds a Letter 
of Accomplishment Certificate 
in Banking from the Institute 
of Canadian Bankers and Post-
Graduate Diploma in Management 
from the University of Wales. 

Smith-St. Ange has worked in the 
private sector and always strived to 
contribute to the community. Now 
that she has retired, she is ready to 
serve her community and country 
even better.

Kimberley Roheman qualified as 
a Barrister-at-Law in the United 
Kingdom in 1992 and was called to 
the Bar in the United Kingdom on 
February 9,1993, and in Saint Lucia 
on June 23,1993. 

Upon her return to Saint Lucia 
in 1993, she took up employment 
as the Deputy Registrar of the 
High Court where she served for 
two years and then as the first 
Magistrate of the Family Court 
which was established in 1996, 
where she served for one and a half 
years. 

Roheman joined the firm 
of McNamara & Co. as an 
Associate in August 1998 and 
was appointed a Partner in 2009. 
She engages mainly in Civil and 
Commercial Litigation and has 
an extensive practice in Family 
Law, Conveyancing, Wills, Probate 
and Administration, Intellectual 
Property and Company Matters. 

She served on the Disciplinary 
Committee of the St. Lucia Bar 
Association from 2006 to 2016, and 
has served as Chairperson of the 
Police Complaints Commission 
since July 2015. She is currently 
a Director on the Board of the 
Intellectual Property Caribbean 
Association (IPCA) and has also 
been a contributor to the World 
Bank Doing Business publication. 

Kimberley Roheman

Director
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Imelda Smith-St. Ange is a 
retired Bank Manager who spent 
30 years working with Bank of 
Nova Scotia and 7 years in the 
Industrial Relations Department 
at Winera Ltd. She has a wealth of 
knowledge in Banking & Financing. 

During her tenure as Bank 
Manager, Smith-St. Ange gained 
international, regional and local 
training in Banking, Sales and 
Service Coaching, Operational 
and Financial Risk Management, 
and Anti-Money Laundering and 
Compliance. She holds a Letter 
of Accomplishment Certificate 
in Banking from the Institute 
of Canadian Bankers and Post-
Graduate Diploma in Management 
from the University of Wales. 

Smith-St. Ange has worked 
in the private sector and always 
strived to contribute to the 
community. Now that she has 
retired, she is ready to serve her 
community and country even 
better.

Sophia M. Henry is currently 
the Acting Permanent Secretary 
in the Ministry of Commerce, 
International Trade, Investment, 
Enterprise Development and 
Consumer Affairs. She joined the 
Public Service in September1994 
and has over two decades of 
experience in tax administration. 

Henry has served in various 
capacities at the Inland Revenue 
Department (IRD), including 
as Audit Supervisor, Assistant 
Comptroller of the Audit Section, 
and for over four years as the 
Comptroller of the Inland Revenue 
Department and the Competent 
Authority (delegate) responsible 
for Saint Lucia’s adherence to 
international tax transparency 
standards. 

She is a fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Certified Accountants 
(FCCA) and member of the 
Institute of Chartered Secretaries 
and Administrators (Acc. Dir.). She 
served as an Alternate Director on 
the Board of the Financial Services 
Regulatory Authority (FSRA) for 
three years and is currently the 
Chair of the Trade Licence Board 
and member of the National 
Export Council. 

Henry is committed to serving 
the Government and people of 
Saint Lucia with excellence and 
integrity. 

We are working 
towards ensuring 
that all Saint Lucians 
can benefit from our 
progress. 

Imelda Smith-St.Ange

Director

Imelda Smith-St.Ange

Director

Sophia M. Henry

Director
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Mr. Roderick Cherry
C.E.O Of Invest Saint Lucia
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CEO’s REPORT 

Invest Saint Lucia

The 
rebranding 
is two-fold. 
Saint Lucia is 
moving toward 
a national 
brand identity. 

I
n the last quarter of 2018, I 

entered Invest Saint Lucia 

as the newly-appointed 

Chief Executive Officer. 

Prior to my arrival, the 

company was focused on dissecting 

and understanding the agency’s 

purpose over a lifespan nearing 50 

years. With rich history, innovation, 

and a role in building Saint 

Lucia even prior to its 41 years of 

Independence, it was important 

to learn the core values of doing 

business at ISL. When 2019 came 

around, I dedicated it as a year of 

revamping strategic plans and 

initiatives, which carried ISL’s 

success in becoming the premier 

agency for investment promotion.

In re-strategizing, it was 

important for me to spend time 

connecting with ISL’s staff and 

key stakeholders to understand 

the agency’s goals and how I could 

assist in improving overall success. 

Upon investigating concerns, I 

realized that there were unfulfilled 

objectives dating back to 2015 final 

reports. Having noted ISL’s staff 

are of an exceptional caliber, and 

the demand and expectations of 

ISL, I knew it was time to focus and 

deliver.

Research had proven to be an 

eye-opener for me, as it highlighted 

the workload that Invest Saint 

Lucia has and the efforts that go on 

behind the scenes. With the public 

unaware, I deemed our company 

to be the country’s best kept secret. 

With newfound knowledge, there 

was determination to execute the 

new strategic plan, which was 

redesigned to specifically cater 

to ISL’s workload and geared 

towards achieving the mandates of 

economic development and jobs for 

the people.

Investment Promotion

The agency’s main assignment 

is to facilitate investments 

that will enable economic and 

social linkages. The market has 

repeatedly told us what Saint Lucia 

is good at, which is tourism, given 

our most significant assets are 

sand, sea, sun and culture. In 2019, 

ISL focused on the type of investor 

best suited for Saint Lucia and 

streamlined the market approach. 

Before, the aim was to aggressively 

secure as many investments as 

possible. However, Saint Lucia is a 

tiny country with little resources. 

Recalibrating and deciding to do 

detailed investigations into trade 

shows prior to attending proved to 

be a significantly more beneficial 

way to use our time and human 

resources. 

With decades of experience, 

and taking note of bigger players 

in investment promotion, we 

knew that with our new staff and 

renewed interest in marketing 

and promotion, 2019 was our year 

to upstage the competition. We 

strengthened 

the vibrance 

and detail of 

our presence 

at the selected 

tradeshows, 

especially in the 

Caribbean. We 

also capitalised on opportunities to 

secure meetings and calendar slots 

before even packing up to leave 

Saint Lucia and we knew who we 

were targeting and why. We headed 

to tradeshows knowing that our 

tourism industry is more refined 

than it was 40 years ago, and it is 

supported with upgraded policies 

and incentives. Now we were ready 

for international brands and we 

went out to prove to them that 

Saint Lucia needed to be on their 

list of destinations.
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We are 
working 
towards 
ensuring 
that all Saint 
Lucians can 
benefit from 
our progress. 

In 2019, ISL also devoted more 

energy into business process 

outsourcing, manufacturing and 

agriculture. We looked at high value 

manufacturing and a niche has 

been carved out in the artificial 

intelligence sector. As a result of 

that, lots of companies of that 

type were and still are looking at 

us, so we took advantage of that 

and have worked on the back end 

to ensure our policy is aligned to 

the type of investors we newly 

identified as ideal for Saint Lucia.

Public Relations

As mentioned before, I realised 

from investigations that our own 

country was not really aware of the 

type of work that ISL accomplishes 

regularly. A situation like this 

deters our local investors from 

accessing our services and so this 

is something we had to address 

immediately. The rebranding 

exercise (which is discussed in 

detail later in this publication) 

signified a culture shift, especially 

towards public relations. 

Invest Saint Lucia reintroduced 

itself to its most important 

stakeholder, Saint Lucia’s citizens. 

We assured our local investors 

as well that we are the primary 

agency to help facilitate their 

investment. At ISL, we treasure and 

recognise the importance of our 

local investors as much as foreign 

investors. The incentive regime and 

legislation are open to everyone, 

and several businesses in Saint 

Lucia to take advantage of them. 

The idea that it is not available to 

locals is an unfortunate myth. The 

qualifying factors would be the 

level of investment and economic 

impact that is anticipated by 

the investment and industry. 

That will unlock the incentives 

available whether local, regional or 

international. 

In 2019, we sought to reach 

more of those businesses and 

ideas through engagement in the 

Get in the Ring St. Lucia leg, two 

meet-ups; one in the north and the 

other in the south, in collaboration 

with the Southern Business 

Association. We introduced the 

business incubator and accelerator 

programme at the opening of 

the 2019 Business Month with 

the Ministry of Commerce and 

invited a youthful demographic 

to participate in a name and logo 

competition for the programme. 

These activities were fruitful 

and helped set the foundation for 

further execution plans in local 

entrepreneurship and investments 

for 2020. 

The rebranding is two-fold. 

Saint Lucia is moving toward a 

national brand identity. Given 

that our primary industry is 

tourism, we have had significant 

market presence. Saint Lucia is 

recognizable in the tourist market 

by the twin peaks, which have 

become our national brand.

Land

In a former life, 

ISL was the National 

Development 

Corporation which 

was vested with a lot 

of government land. 

In 2019, ISL started the groundwork 

towards increasing Saint 

Lucian land ownership through 

rationalisation and development. 

It is one of our corporate targets to 

ensure that citizens get ownership 

of a piece of Saint Lucia on an 

annual basis. The corporation 

is judged by that now and it is 

something that I insisted upon as 

being a headline corporate target. 

CEO’s REPORT 
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We have the joint mandate of 

providing revenue to sustain the 

organisation as well as economic 

development, and now, providing 

land ownership. Through the land 

rationalisation project, we are 

giving people the opportunity 

to purchase land that they have 

occupied illegally. ISL develops 

the area and facilitate utility 

installation and we sell the land at 

a reduced cost to people who have 

lived there for a long time. This is a 

tedious project, and the aim is not 

to make a profit, but to promote 

land ownership and to enable Saint 

Lucians to live a better quality of 

life. These projects enable us to 

participate in a lot of community 

interaction as well.

As the national investment 

promotion agency, ISL has also 

spearheaded the development 

of three major projects along 

the east and west coasts of the 

island, specifically in the districts 

of Dennery, Micoud and Choiseul, 

respectively. 

Bois Jolie Residential 
Development Phase 2:

This area of prime residential 

property is located on 

approximately 8.43 acres of sloping 

land and comprises 25 single unit 

residential lots ranging in size from 

3,800 square feet to 8,400 square 

feet. The Bois Jolie development 

has garnered loads of interest 

from the constituents of Dennery 

and its environs. The 25 lots were 

nearly sold out by the end of 2019. 

This development was designed for 

the lower end of the middle-class 

spectrum of property owners and 

ISL handed over ownership by the 

end of 2019. 

Beauchamp Development:

The Beauchamp Development 

has been designated for both 

residential and commercial use, 

which makes it a very attractive 

option for potential landowners 

of this subdivision. The multi-

purpose prime property is 

located on approximately 20 

acres of relatively flat land and 

is comprised of 59 lots ranging 

in size from 5,000 square feet to 

26,000 square feet. The lot sizes 

were prepared for marketing to the 

higher end of middle-class buyers, 

especially young professionals. 

The area is a way off the district of 

Micoud, so there are opportunities 

to invest in businesses such as a 

minimart or day-care. Most of the 

lots were sold out by the end of 

2019.

La Fargue Development:

The La Fargue Development is 

another project that offers both 

residential and commercial use; 

however, this prime property is 

located on the west coast of Saint 

Lucia near to the calm waters 

of the Caribbean Sea. It is on 

approximately 28.4 acres of flat 

land. In 2019, the development went 

through the approval stage and 

was estimated for completion in 

2020.

Conclusion

Invest Saint Lucia began a 

transitional stage in 2019, but the 

agency has always held national 

development as the utmost goal 

in all its endeavours. Under new 

branding and strategic plans, this 

is no different. We are working 

towards ensuring that all Saint 

Lucians can benefit from our 

progress. 

CEO’s REPORT 



MANAGEMENT

Jeremiah Edward
Senior Manager, Finance

and Administration

Roderick Cherry

CEO

 An accomplished senior manage-
ment executive and holder of a 
Master of Business Administration 
in strategic management, Cherry 
brings a wealth of leadership expe-
rience to his role as chief executive 
officer of Invest Saint Lucia.

With twenty-five years in 
management and marketing, 
fifteen of which were spent at a 
senior management level, he has 
extensive experience in strategy 
development and strategic 
management, dispute arbitration, 
corporate governance and change 
management. 

Prior to his present appointment, 
Cherry served as the Saint 
Lucia Hospitality and Tourism 
Association’s (formerly Saint Lucia 
Hotel and Tourism Association) 
chief operations officer, and 
subsequently, as its CEO. He has 
also served as CEO of the National 
Insurance Property Development 

& Management Company Ltd. 
(NIPRO), executive director of the 
Saint Lucia National Conservation 
Fund, and senior manager for 
marketing at Eastern Caribbean 
Financial Holding. 

Cherry is a former chairman 
of the National Conservation 
Fund, a former commissioner 
on the board of the National 
Telecommunications Regulatory 
Commission (NTRC) and has 
served on both the boards of 
the Saint Lucia Solid Waste 
Management Authority (SLSWMA) 
and Soufriere Marine Management 
Association (SMMA). 

Jeremiah Edward joined Invest 
Saint Lucia in August 2000 as an 
accounts officer. During his 20-
year tenure, he has moved up the 
ranks from accounts supervisor 
to senior accountant and was 
promoted to the senior manager 
for finance and administration 
position in 2016.

 In his capacity as a senior 
manager, Edward is responsible for 
ensuring that all internal controls 
and procedures are adhered to and 
maintained. He possesses a wealth 
of experience in the field of finance 
and accounting. 
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Lyndon Samuel is Microsoft 
Certified and has headed 
the information technology 
department since 2004. He began 
his journey with ISL as the systems 
administrator and became the IT 
systems manager in 2015. Samuel 
has been serving in his present 
senior management role of IT 
systems advisor since 2016. His 
skills include the deployment of key 
information technologies, including 
system design and integration, 
client server networks, desktop and 
database management systems. 

Samuel also has in-depth 
expertise in Microsoft Enterprise 
platforms, including Windows 
Server, Exchange Server, SQL 
Server and SharePoint that he 
has used to implement people-
focused solutions to employees 
and partners; increasing their 
engagement; and allowing them to 
deliver maximum productivity. 

A certified human resource 
leader (CHRL) through the 
Human Resources Professionals 
Association of Ontario, Canada, 
Nicole DuBoulay has over twelve 
years of senior level human 
resource management experience. 
She spent four years developing 
and executing the human 
resources strategy for one of the 
leading utility companies in the 
Caribbean, St Lucia Electricity 
Services Ltd.  

She holds a bachelor’s degree in 
psychology from York University in 
Canada, and two master’s degrees 
in business administration from 
McMaster University, Canada 
and training and performance 
management from University of 
Leicester, United Kingdom. 

Employed with Invest Saint 
Lucia since April 2010, and starting 
as an investment services and 
fulfillment officer, Alana Lansiquot-
Brice has been promoted twice 
during her tenure at ISL. She 
became the senior investment 
officer in 2012 and she has 
been serving in the capacity of 
investment services manager 
since 2015. Alana is responsible for 
all the organisation’s investment 
promotion and facilitation efforts.

Lansiquot-Brice is an 
accomplished professional with 
international experience in 
finance, accounting, law, sales, 
project analysis, and brokerage 
investment. She holds a bachelor’s 
degree in business administration 
and a master’s degree in 
international business. 

Nicole Duboulay 
Senior Manager 

Human Resource

Lyndon Samuel 
Senior Manager 

Information Systems Advisor

Alana Lansiquot-Brice 
Investment Services 

Manager 

INVEST SAINT LUCIA ANNUAL REPORT 2019  19



David Desir previously served 
as deputy chief physical planner 
and acting commissioner of crown 
lands with the Government of 
Saint Lucia. He is a member of the 
Minister’s Task Force responsible 
for reviewing planning standards 
in Saint Lucia. He is also integrally 
involved in community work and 
serves as a Justice of the Peace. 

Desir holds a Bachelor of Science 
in horticulture and soil science 
from the Alabama Agricultural and 
Mechanical University, graduating 
with first class honours. He also 
holds a Professional Master of Arts 
in urban and regional planning 
with a specialization in land use 
planning. 

Apart from his role as lands 
administration manager at 
Invest Saint Lucia, Desiris heavily 
involved in community service and 
national associations. He serves as 
vice president of both the St. Lucia 
Institute of Land Use Planners 

and the St. Lucia Justice of the 
Peace Association. He is also a 
member of the American Planning 
Association.

Delia Didier-Nicholas joined 
Invest Saint Lucia in 2018 as 
the project manager for land 
rationalisation. She is a land 
development appraiser, urban 
and environmental planner and 
building construction/structural 
engineering technologist with 
over 30 years’ experience in safe 
land development and building 
construction practices in the public 
and private sectors. 

Didier-Nicholas holds a 
Master of Science in urban 
land appraisal, a Bachelor 
of Science in urban planner 
and environmental resource 
management, professional diploma 
in project management, and 
diplomas in building construction 
and structural engineering 

technology. She has also pursued 
certificate courses with the World 
Bank, including disaster risk 
management, safe and resilient 
cities, climate change, integrated 
transport planning, sustainable 
land use planning, and climate 
finance.  

Earland Labadie began working 
with Invest Saint Lucia in 
November 2011 as an investment 
services officer and was promoted 
to the senior position in 2014. In 
2019, Labadie left the head office 
but was promoted to general 
manager of one of ISL’s properties, 
Duty Free Pointe Seraphine. 

He represented ISL on the Ease 
of Doing Business Task Force 
from its inception until 2019 and 
Labadie still sits on the board of the 
Saint Lucia Bureau of Standards 
as ISL ex-officio for the second 
consecutive term.

MANAGEMENT

David Desir 
Land Administration 

Manager

Delia Didier-Nicholas 
Project Manager for Land 

Rationalization

Shirlyn Elliodore
Marketing and 

Communications Manager

Earland Labadie 
General Manager,  

Duty Free Pointe Seraphine
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Labadie graduated from 
Midwestern State University in 
Texas with a bachelor’s degree 
in economics and was awarded 
for being the most outstanding 
student in sconomics in 2001.

He has a background in sales 
and spent six years working for 
a fortune 500 company handling 
credit card services, quality 
assurance as well insurance 
claims. Labadie is licensed in 
property and causality and life 
and health insurance in the state 
of Oklahoma. 

Shirlyn Elliodore is a high-
energy marketing executive 
with over 10 years’ experience 
in marketing and tourism 
management. In her roles, 
Elliodore was primarily 
responsible for developing and 
implementing marketing strategy, 
budget preparation, market 
research, branding, advertising 
and social media campaigns. She 
is passionate about comprehensive 
marketing strategies, boosting 
brand awareness, and initiating 

profitable marketing and sales 
operations.

She holds a Bachelor of 
Science in tourism management 
with first class honours and a 
Master of Science (summa cum 
laude) in international tourism 
management with focus on 
destination marketing from the 
(IULM) University Institute for 
Modern Languages (renamed to 
University for Languages and 
Communication [IULM]) in Milan, 
Italy. To keep abreast with the 
industry Shirlyn has recently 
completed online courses in 
digital marketing, hospitality 
management and investment 
promotion.   

Elliodore currently lives in Saint 
Lucia but in her free you can be 
sure to find her travelling the 
world and exploring new places.

Vanessa William joined Invest 
Saint Lucia as the Legal Counsel/
Corporate Secretary in April 2018. 
Prior to joining ISL, Williams 

was employed with private law 
firms for about a decade. Most 
significant was her four-year stint 
with Glitzenhirn and Augustin 
& Co., and her tenure with Gill 
William where she worked for 
four years and eventually became 
partner in the firm during that 
time.

During her career, she has 
gained extensive knowledge and 
experience in civil law practice 
and procedure, including company 
law, contract law and property law. 
She holds a Bachelor of Laws (LLB) 
from the University of the West 
Indies, Cave Hill Campus, and a 
certification of legal education 
from the Hugh Wooding Law 
School in Trinidad. 

A member of the Bar Association 
of Saint Lucia, William’s interests 
also include business development 
and project management. She 
recently obtained a certificate 
in project management, which 
is useful in her work as part of a 
non-profit organisation focused 
on community empowerment 
ventures.

Jeremiah Edward
Senior Manager, Finance

and Administration

Vanessa William
Legal Counsel/

Corporate Secretary

Earland Labadie 
General Manager,  

Duty Free Pointe Seraphine

Shirlyn Elliodore
Marketing and 

Communications Manager
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Invest Saint Lucia
History

Facilitating 
local and 
foreign direct 
investment by 
functioning 
as a true One 
Stop Shop for 
investors.

Invest Saint Lucia has 
had a long and eventful 
history since being 

established in 1971 as the National 
Development Corporation. Now, 
ISL is the principal agency of the 
Government of Saint Lucia with 
responsibility for investment 
promotion and facilitation.

During the 1970s and 1980s Saint 
Lucia pursued a policy of industrial 
development by invitation and 
experienced dynamic economic 
growth. The National Development 
Corporation, a statutory 
corporation established by an Act 
of Parliament in 1971, was at the 
forefront of this growth and in that 
period a comprehensive program 
of industrial estate building and 
residential land development was 
initiated. Employment expanded 
as products made in Saint Lucia 
enjoyed preferential market access 
under trading arrangements 
such as The Lomé Convention, the 
Caribbean Basin Initiative and 
The Caribbean-Canada Trade 
Agreement (CARIBCAN).

The 90s followed with 
unprecedented change and 
uncertainty. The World Trade 
Organization replaced the General 
Agreement on Trade and Tariffs 

and globalisation and free trade 
became the new economic realities. 
In 2001, the Parliament of Saint 
Lucia enacted legislation giving 
the corporation a new mandate 
to stimulate, facilitate, and 
promote investment by foreign 
and local investors but much of 
the focus remained on physical 
asset management and passive 
investment facilitation.

The 2001 mandate was further 
renewed following the November 
2011 General Election. Thus, the 
National Development Corporation 
(NDC), now trading as Invest 
Saint Lucia, was given a primary 
mandate of investment promotion 
and business facilitation. This 
directive was informed with the 
recognition that investment is a 
major vehicle for implementing the 
government’s stated development 
strategy. To accomplish this 
strategic goal the intention is to 
transform the erstwhile NDC into a 
full-fledged investment promotion 
agency with a clear focus on:

•	 Building	Saint	Lucia’s	image	
as a preferred location for 
investors;

•		 Seeking	out	and	generating	
new investments in strategic 

sectors with high value- added 
and employment generating 
potential;

•	 Facilitating	local	and	foreign	
direct investment by functioning 
as a true one stop shop for 
investors; and 

•	 Identifying	
major issues 
and measures 
geared towards 
assisting the 
government 
in social and economic 
development

Foreign direct investment is 
one of the key drivers of economic 
growth and development in any 
country. In addition to the inflows 
of capital, other potential benefits 
include employment generation, 
competition stimulation, 
technology and skills transfer 
and the enhancement of a 
country’s overall international 
competitiveness. The new 
mandate is also compelled by 
an inherent appreciation that 
inward investment is critical to the 
country’s continuing development 
process.



Duty Free 

Pointe Seraphine
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On June 25, 2009, the then 
Cabinet of Ministers, by 
Cabinet Conclusion 696 

of 2009, agreed to the adoption 
of a new marketing name for 
the National Development 
Corporation, to modernise and 
rebrand the corporation. The 
said conclusion was silent on 
the name, but a new website was 
established, www.investstlucia.com 
and production of new branded 
marketing paraphernalia bearing 
the insignia “Invest Saint Lucia”. 

However, the formal launch of 
the Invest Saint Lucia brand would 
not take place for another three 
years. The corporation underwent 
several internal changes and, in 
the process, reprioritised it’s assets 
and strategic plans to function as 
Invest Saint Lucia. 

On July 20, 2012, at a formal 
rebranding ceremony, the National 
Development Corporation officially 
rebranded itself under the trading 
name, “Invest Saint Lucia”. Cabinet, 
by Conclusion 237 dated April 29, 
2013, ratified the change of name. 
The legal change of name was 
issued by an Act of Parliament in 
May 2014. 

In September 2019, Invest Saint 
Lucia’s look was refined and 
changed one more time to align 
with the Government of Saint 
Lucia’s new umbrella branding of 
national agencies. Now, the agency 
strives to be a leader in business 
and investment in the country and 
the Caribbean.

Invest Saint Lucia
History

In September 2019, 
Invest Saint Lucia’s 
look was refined and 
changed.
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Invest Saint Lucia
New operations

In 2019, Invest Saint Lucia 
completed intense audit 
processes to evaluate and 

decide how the agency will move 
into the future as part of the 
rebranding process. The goal 
is to become a purpose-driven, 
vision-focused and professional 
investment promotion agency, 
that advances Saint Lucia’s 
socio-economic development 
by promoting, stimulating and 
facilitating direct investment while 
making a reasonable return on 
assets. 

Brand Saint Lucia is a new 
government policy which requires 
all national agencies utilising the 
name “Saint Lucia” to fall under 
a unified branding platform. ISL 
wanted to ensure that it is running 
with the pack by undertaking an 
intensive re-branding exercise 
which went beyond a logo. As an 
investment promotion agency 
(IPA), ISL faces competition from 
other IPAs that have invested in 
building their brands from the 
ground up. While the cosmetic 
changes are the most visible and 
impactful, they do not give the full 
picture of how deep the ISL cultural 
shift has been. 

Essentially, ISL has embodied 
a ruler brand personality which 

is going to help the agency 
stay competitive in the global 
investment market. What is a ruler 
brand? The new look of Invest 
Saint Lucia is called the royal 
standard. Royal navy blue and 
gold are now ISL’s main brand 
colours. They convey the fact that 
our island is something precious: 
regal, a crown jewel. Now, ISL is 
looking for investors, both local 
and foreign, who treat the island 
with the care and attention of 
something which belongs to them. 
Hence ISL’s new tagline, “Make it 
your Own”. 

One of the most important 
changes Invest Saint Lucia 
has made, is more streamlined 
engagement with our Saint 
Lucian people. A huge part of ISL’s 
rebranding is its public relations 
and corporate social responsibility 
activities has addressed the false 
perception that ISL is only about 
benefitting foreign investors. 

As many Saint Lucians have 
been able to realise, ISL has not 
been doing this in isolation and 
the agency has strengthened its 
partnerships with key promotion 
agencies such as the Saint Lucia 
Tourism Authority, Export Saint 
Lucia and the Citizenship by 
Investment Programme, to create 

a united front for the promotion 
of Saint Lucia as the location of 
choice for investments, visitors 
and exports. We have all been 
working towards common purpose 
of advancing the country’s socio-
economic development.

Invest Saint Lucia and by 
extension the Government of 
Saint Lucia have today, reaped 
the rewards of efforts sewed as far 
back as 1986, when the decision 
to invest capital in a cruise ship 
hub was executed. With Saint 
Lucia having moved from an 
agriculturally dedicated economy 
to tourism, the agency saw 
potential in creating a touristic 
and retail experience through the 
construction of a shopping centre.

The decision to build on one 
of the three key sectors of ISL’s 
investment promotions—tourism—
came with little resistance, as an 
average cruise ship day on the 
Pointe Seraphine port would host 
nearly 6,000 visitors. Many saw 
potential in the idea and stood 
behind it. While the cruise industry 
was one of the main focuses, ISL 
also targeted a local audience 
for this project, as the now Duty 
Free Pointe Seraphine Shopping 
Complex was the only shopping 
facility for the capital of the island.



More Than A 
Shopping Centre, 
It’s an Experience.
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Invest Saint Lucia
Duty Free 
Pointe Seraphine 
Shopping Complex

Over the span of 
three decades, the 
shopping complex 

has continuously underwent 
improved infrastructure in order 
to facilitate more persons and 
create a centre that is a one-stop-
shop. These changes included the 
extension of a berth, erection of 
a second shopping phase on the 
complex as well as upgrading road 
infrastructure.

As the cruise industry continues 
to expand, the extension of the 
berth has been able to facilitate 
larger cruise ship vessels, and 
with the growth in visitors, the 
additional phase has created 
more variety and quality in the 
shopping experience. Again, with 
an increase in both local and 
foreign foot traffic, the facilitation 
of a new road was encouraged to 
reduce congestion in vehicular 
traffic. DFPS has become the area 
of quality shopping for souvenirs, 
trinkets, jewellery, clothing, 
dining, excursions and even 
entertainment.

With the construction of 
this shopping complex, it has 
stimulated the economy in several 
ways including the increase 

in employment as a result of 
several new facilities operating. 
Many have benefited from this 
centralized shopping experience, 
especially during the peak cruise 
season; December – April. On 
average per year, close to 500,000 
visitors enter the Castries ports 
and patronise Duty Free Pointe 
Seraphine.

In 2019, Invest Saint Lucia 
continued to see value in the 
complex and began creating a 
new marketing plan which would 
heavily concentrate on locals. 
The intention of the company is 
to change public perception of 
the Pointe Seraphine shopping 
complex and moving away from 
the stigma surrounded by the 
attached “duty free” name.

Our shopping centre is once 
again reintroducing our market 
to the locals and becoming more 
welcoming by way of creating a 
social hub for patrons of the island. 
In late 2019, ISL began plans for 
the construction of a social hub, 
which would include a beautifully 
designed “Saint Lucia” mural. 
The social hub will also include 
lounge chairs and other decorative 
furnishing to facilitate a fun spot 
for entertaining locals and visitors 

alike.

The future of Duty Free Pointe 
Seraphine for 2020 and beyond is 
geared towards creating a more 
holistic environment catering to 
both locals and foreigners.

The ultimate role of Pointe 
Seraphine shopping remains the 
same, providing shopping for all 
your sense!
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INVESTMENT STATISTICS
 INTRODCUTION

Invest Saint Lucia continued its 
efforts towards promoting Saint 
Lucia as the ideal location for 
investments as well as contributing 
to the economic development 
throughout the island. The 
investment summary will give 
an outline of the reported flows in 
both domestic and foreign direct 
investment to Saint Lucia for the 
review period 2019. 

1.1 DIRECT INVESTMENT 
FLOWS (FOREIGN AND 
DOMESTIC INVESTMENT)

The direct investment reported 
in Saint Lucia for the review period 
totalled US$28,526,415. A total of 
1,128 new jobs were created as a 

result of the capital expenditure 
from reported investment projects.  
Most of the new jobs created were 
permanent jobs accounting for 
568, while the remaining 560 were 
transient jobs created during the 
greenfield and brownfield projects 
undertaken. The concentration of 
direct investment flows was mainly 
from the United States and Canada 
markets and, to a lesser extent, 
Asia and the regional markets. 
The economic impact of these 
investments was noted in several 
districts across Saint Lucia.

The tourism sector continues 
to be the dominant contributor to 
capital expenditure (CapEx) which 
accounted for US$15,923,000 of the 
total direct investment flows. The 
job creation in the tourism sector 
totaled 458, of which 416 were 

temporary jobs and the remaining 
42 accounting for permanent jobs. 

In addition, the business process 
outsourcing (BPO) sector accounted 
for the second largest job creator, 
with a total of 335 jobs as shown in 
Table 1. The BPO sector recorded 
US$1,945,253 in CapEx for the 
review period.

The manufacturing sector 
contributed a total of 272 jobs, 
from reported investments, 
211 of those being permanent. 
Manufacturing accounted for 
US$9,324,815 CapEx for the 
review period. Hard infrastructure 
recorded 63 transient jobs from 
reported investment projects and 
US$1,333,347 CapEx.

Invest Saint Lucia
Investment Summary

Sector 

Capital 
Expenditure 

US$ 
Millions  

Capital 
Expenditure 

EC$ 
Millions  

Jobs Created  

Permanent  Transient  
Total 
Jobs 

Tourism  15,923,000  42,992,100  42 416  458  

Manufacturing  9,324,815  25,177,001  211  61  272  

BPO 1,945,253  5,252,184  315  20 335  
Hard 
Infrastructure  1,333,347  3,600,037  -  63 63 

 28,526,415  77,021,321  568  560  1128  

!

Total

Table 1: Direct 
Investment 
Summary

Source: Invest Saint 
Lucia Annual Investor 
Survey 2019
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1.2 SECTOR 
CONTRIBUTION

The tourism sector led CapEx, 
accounting for 56% of total CapEx, 
and representative of 41% of total 
employment. The manufacturing 
sector was the second largest 
contributor to direct investment, 
accounting for 33% of CapEx. 
A total of 272 jobs were created 
representing for 24% of total 
employment.

The emerging BPO sector 
contributed 7% of total direct 
investment, while creating a total 
of 335 jobs of total employment.

Most of the investment flows 
were due to several expansion 
projects as well as major upgrades 
in the respective sectors across 
the island.

Chart 1: Investment 
Flows by Sector 
(CapEx)

Chart 2:  Job 
Creation by Sector

56% TOURISM

41% TOURISM

33% MANUFACTURING

24% MANUFACTURING

7% BPO

20% BPO

4% HARD INFRASTRUCTURE

6% HARD INFRASTRUCTURE

Source: Invest Saint 
Lucia Annual Investor 
Survey 2019

Source: Invest Saint 
Lucia Annual Investor 
Survey 2019

Invest Saint Lucia
Investment Summary
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1.3 FOREIGN DIRECT 
INVESTMENT (FDI) 
INFLOWS

The FDI reported for 
the review period totalled 
US$20,797,815 in 2019; 
representative of 73% of 
the total direct investments 
reported. The majority of the 
foreign investment was focused 
in the tourism sector accounting 
of 48% of FDI inflows, followed 
by the manufacturing sector 
respectively. 

Chart 3:  Investment 
Category

Chart 4:  Investment 
Category

Source: Invest Saint 
Lucia Annual Investor 
Survey 2019

Source: Invest Saint 
Lucia Annual Investor 
Survey 2019

Local 7,728,600

USD$ Millions

20,797,815

5,000,000 10,000,000 15,000,000 20,000,000 25,000,000

Foreign

73% FOREIGN

27% LOCAL

Invest Saint Lucia
Investment Summary
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(5) 

INVEST SAINT LUCIA 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 
 
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars) 

 

 
1 Incorporation and principal activity 

 
Invest Saint Lucia; formerly the National Development Agency is a Government Statutory Body which was 
established by the National Development Agency Act, 1971 (with subsequent amendments) to promote the 
economic development of Saint Lucia. 
 
The Act of 1971 was superseded by Act No. 23 of 2001 in support of the new focus/functions of the Agency’s 
economic activities. The Act defines the powers of the Agency. By Cabinet Conclusion No. 237 of 2013 the 
National Development Agency Act, No. 23 of 2001 was superseded by the Invest Saint Lucia Act No.14 of 
2014 and includes the name change from National Development Agency to Invest Saint Lucia. Invest Saint 
Lucia is exempt from the payments of income tax and customs duties. 
 
Invest Saint Lucia’s registered office and principal place of business is located on the 1st Floor, Heraldine 
Rock Building, Waterfront, Castries, Saint Lucia. 
 
The separate financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on 
December 10, 2020 and are prepared for the purpose of complying with statutory reporting requirements. 
 
 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
Statement of compliance 
The separate financial statements of Invest Saint Lucia have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) and under the historical cost convention, as modified by fair value of investment securities. The 
consolidated financial statements have not been performed in accordance with IFRS. 
 
Basis for preparation 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 
Agency’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.   
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December 29, 2020 
 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Shareholder of 
Invest Saint Lucia 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements 
 
 
Qualified Opinion 
We have audited the separate financial statements of Invest Saint Lucia (the Agency), which comprise 
the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2019, and the statements of comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the separate financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified 
Opinion section of our report, the accompanying separate financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency as at December 31, 2019, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 
 
Basis for Qualified Opinion 
As explained in Note 2 to the financial statements, the financial statements do not consolidate the 
results, assets and liabilities, and cash flow of the subsidiary. As a consequence, the financial 
statements do not give all the information required under IFRS about the economic activities of the 
group of which the Company is the parent.  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Agency in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the separate financial statements in the Eastern 
Caribbean, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Page 2 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report …continued 
 
 
Other Matter 
The separate financial statements of the Agency for the year ended December 31, 2018 were audited 
by another auditor who expressed a qualified opinion on these statements on October 10, 2019. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and those charged with Governance for the Separate Financial 
Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Agency’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Agency 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Agency’s financial reporting 
process.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. 
 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these separate financial statements. 
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Page 3 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report …continued 
 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements …continued 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Agency’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the separate financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Agency 
to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the separate financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Accountants 
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(1) 

INVEST SAINT LUCIA 
Separate Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2019 
 
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars) 

 

2019 2018
Notes $ $

Assets 
Current assets
Cash 5 3,270,842           5,440,529 
Trade and other receivables 6 30,216,387           2,512,373 
Investment securities 8 15,206,575         13,359,566 

48,693,804         21,312,468 
Non-current assets
Land developments 7 21,617,549         14,593,813 
Land inventory 7 20,693,354         21,079,191 
Investment securities 8 2,835,386         10,881,587 
Investment in subsidiaries 9 1                       1 
Property, plant and equipment 10 4,695,312           3,902,091 
Other Assets 11 41,296               71,423 
Investment properties 12 34,372,439         32,045,900 

84,255,337         82,574,006 

Total assets 132,949,141       103,886,474 
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Borrowings 13 210,432             197,231 
Trade and other payables 14 3,858,610           4,751,204 
Lease liabilities 15 286,249                       - 
Provision for future development costs 16 8,718,575           5,966,017 
Customer deposits 17 3,925,689           2,757,055 

16,999,555         13,671,507 
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 13 4,020,683           4,236,251 
Lease liabilities 15 471,909                       - 
Provision for future development costs 16 5,812,384           3,977,344 
Due to subsidiary 18 499,185             850,598 

10,804,161           9,064,193 

Total liabilities 27,803,716         22,735,700 

Equity
Contributed capital 19 69,142,378         42,129,254 
Accumulated surplus 36,003,047         39,021,520 

105,145,425         81,150,774 

Total liabilities and equity 132,949,141       103,886,474 
 

 
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON DECEMBER 10, 2020 
 
 
_______________________________ Director  _______________________________ Director 
 
The notes on the accompanying pages form an integral part of these financial statements. 



INVEST SAINT LUCIA ANNUAL REPORT 2019  43 

(2) 

INVEST SAINT LUCIA 
Separate Statement of Surplus or Deficit and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 
 
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars 

 

     
2019 2018

Notes $ $

Revenue 21 34,536,416 9,350,062       

Direct costs 21 (33,055,537)          (9,097,386)      

Departmental operating profit 1,480,879             252,676          

General and administrative  expenses 22 (6,143,425)            (3,764,600)      

Other income - net 24 1,746,687 2,370,893       

Operating deficit (2,915,859)            (1,141,031)      

Fair value loss on FVTPL-financial assets (13,800)                 (9,600)            

Finance cost - net 25 (88,814)                 (85,940)          

Deficit  for the year (3,018,473)            (1,236,571)      

Comprehensive loss  for the year (3,018,473)            (1,236,571)      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes on the accompanying pages form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Contributed Fair  value Accumulated

Capital Reserve Surplus Total
$ $ $ $

As at January 1, 2017 41,473,153     (471,600)              41,094,736        82,096,289     

Additional contributed capital 656,101          -                                            - 656,101          
Adjustment on adaption of IFRS 9 -                -                                 (365,045) (365,045)        
Fair value loss on FVTPL assets -                471,600                           (471,600) -                
Deficit for the year -                -                              (1,236,571) (1,236,571)      

At end of year    42,129,254                        -         39,021,520    81,150,774 

As at January 1, 2018 42,129,254     -                     39,021,520        81,150,774     
Additional contributed capital 27,013,124     -                     -                   27,013,124     
Deficit for the year -                -                     (3,018,473)         (3,018,473)      

At end of year    69,142,378                        -         36,003,047  105,145,425 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes on the accompanying pages form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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The Notes on the accompanying pages form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

2019 2018
Notes $ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Deficit for the year            (3,018,473)            (1,236,571)
Adjustments for:
Dividend income 24            (1,026,376)            (1,500,501)
Interest income 24               (797,488)               (950,409)
Depreciation 10,11,12              1,553,934              1,253,130 
Interest expense 25                 100,693                    97,442 
Reversal of impairment loss/Impairment loss financial asssets 8                    (8,590)                    18,013 
Impairment loss - trade and other receivables                 300,184                 272,325 
Fair value loss on FVTPL financial assests                    13,800                      9,600 
Loss on disposal of investment properties 24                 122,604                 342,196 

Impairment loss- land development                              -                 914,212 

Operating deficit before working capital changes            (2,759,712)               (780,563)

Increase in trade and other receivables          (28,476,631)               (932,022)
Increase in land developments            (7,023,736)            (3,972,481)
Decrease/(Increase) in land inventory                 385,837            (6,759,579)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables               (892,594)              2,514,553 
Increase in provision for future development costs              4,587,598              6,289,208 
Increase/(decrease) in customer deposits              1,168,634               (579,542)
(Decrease)/Increase in due to subsidiary               (351,413)                 430,984 

Cash used in from operations          (33,362,017)            (3,789,442)
Interest paid               (100,693)                  (97,442)

Net cash used in operating activities          (33,462,710)            (3,886,884)

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividend income received              1,096,376              1,641,905 
Interest income received              1,199,921                 819,266 
Purchase of other assets 11                              -                  (78,934)
Purchases of investment properties 12            (3,438,981)               (390,961)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 10               (449,180)            (2,076,881)
Purchases of investment securities            (2,072,674)          (18,181,192)
Redemption of investment securities              8,266,656            21,978,168 

Net cash generated from investing activities              4,602,118              3,711,371 

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings and lease liabilities               (322,218)               (191,048)
Increase in contributed capital            27,013,124                 656,101 
Net cash generated from financing activities            26,690,906                 465,053 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents            (2,169,686)                 289,540 
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 5              5,440,528              5,150,989 
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 5              3,270,842              5,440,529 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 
Basis for preparation …continued 
 
(i) New and amended standards and interpretations effective in the 2019 financial year are as follows: 
 
• IFRS 9, Amendments - Prepayments Features with Negative Compensation - Under IFRS 9, a debt 

instrument can be measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding’ (the “SPPI” criterion) and the instrument is held within the appropriate business 
model for that classification. The amendments to IFRS 9 clarifies that a financial asset passes the SPPI 
criterion regardless of the event or circumstance that causes the early termination of the contract and 
irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early termination of the 
contract. The application of this amendment did not have a material impact on the Agency.  
 

• IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ - This standard was issued in January 2016 and will supersede IAS 17, ‘Leases’, 
along with three Interpretations (IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’,  
SIC 15 ‘Operating Lease Incentives’, and SIC 27 ‘Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving 
the Legal Form of a Lease’).  
 
The adoption of this new Standard has resulted in the Agency recognizing a right-of-use asset and related 
liability in connection with all former operating leases except for any identified as low-value or having 
a remaining lease term of less than 12 months from the date of initial application.  
 
The new Standard has been applied using the modified retrospective approach with the cumulative effect 
of adopting IFRS 16 being recognized in equity as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained 
earnings for the current period. Prior periods have not been restated.  
 
For contracts in place at the date of initial applicable, the Agency has elected to apply the definition of 
a lease from IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 and has not applied IFRS 16 to arrangements that were previously not 
identified as a lease under IAS 17 and IFRIC 14.  
 
This standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and 
liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. 
Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting 
substantially unchanged from its predecessor. 
 
The Agency has elected not to include initial direct costs in the measurement of the right-of-use asset 
for operating leases in existence at the date of initial applicable of IFRS 16, being 1 January 2019. At 
this date the Agency has also elected to measure the right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease 
liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments that existed at the date of transition. 
 
Instead of performing an impairment review on the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application, 
the Agency has relied on its historic assessment as to whether leases were onerous immediately before 
the date of initial application of IFRS 16.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 
Basis for preparation …continued 
 
(i) New and amended standards and interpretations effective in the 2019 financial year are as follows:  

continued 
 
IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ ….continued 
On transition, for leases previously accounted for as operating leases with a remaining lease term of less 
than 12 months and for leases of low-value assets the Agency has applied the optional exemptions to not 
recognize right-of-use assets but to account for the lease expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining 
lease term.  
 
For those leases previously classified as finance leases, the right-of-use asset and lease are measured at the 
date of initial application at the same amounts as under IAS 17 immediately before the date of initial 
application.  
 
On transition to IFRS 16 the weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities 
recognized under IFRS 16 was 4.80 %.  
 
The Agency has benefited from the use of hindsight for determining the lease term when considering 
options to extend and terminate leases.  
 
The following is a reconciliation of the financial statement line items from IAS 17 to IFRS 16 at January 1, 
2019: 
 

 

Carrying 
amount 

December 31, 
2018 

$ 

Reclassifi- 
cation 

$ 

Remeasure- 
ment 

$ 

IFRS carrying 
amount 

January 1, 
2019 

$ 
     
Property, plant and equipment - 54,782 - 54,782 
Lease liabilities - (54,782) - (54,782) 
     
Total - - - - 
 
The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2018 (as disclosed 
in the financial statements to December 31, 2018) to the lease liabilities recognised at January 1, 2019. 
 
 Amount 

 $ 
  

Total operating commitments disclosed at December 31, 2018 331,188 
  

Recognition exemptions:  
- Leases of lease terms of less than 12 months (295,188) 
-Operating lease before discounting 72,000 
-Discounted using incremental borrowing rate (53,218) 

  
Total lease liability recognised under IFRS 16 at January 1, 2019 54,782 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 
Basis for preparation …continued 
 
(i) New and amended standards and interpretations effective in the 2019 financial year are as follows:  

continued 
 
• IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments  - This interpretation was issued to address the 

determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, 
when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12, ‘Income Taxes’. 
 
This interpretation is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Its 
implementation did not have a material impact on amounts reported in the Agency’s separate financial 
statements. 
 

• IAS 12, Income Taxes - This standard was amended to clarify that all income tax consequences of 
dividends (i.e. distribution of profits) should be recognised in profit or loss, regardless of how the tax 
arises. 
 
This amendment is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The application 
of this amendment did not have a material impact on amounts reported in the Agency’s separate financial 
statements. 
 

• IAS 19, ‘Employee Benefits’ - This standard was amended to clarify that the past service cost (or of the 
gain or loss on settlement) is calculated by measuring the defined benefit liability (asset) using updated 
assumptions and comparing benefits offered and plan assets before and after the plan amendment (or 
curtailment or settlement) but ignoring the effect of the asset ceiling (that may arise when the defined 
benefit plan is in a surplus position). IAS 19 is now clear that the change in the effect of the asset ceiling 
that may result from the plan amendment (or curtailment or settlement) is determined in a second step 
and is recognised in the normal manner in other comprehensive income. 
 
This amendment is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The application 
of this amendment did not have a material impact on amounts reported in the Agency’s separate financial 
statements. 
 

• IAS 23, ‘Borrowing Costs’ - This standard was amended to clarify that if any specific borrowing remains 
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the 
funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation rate on general borrowings. 
 
This amendment is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The application 
of this amendment did not have a material impact on amounts reported in the Agency’s separate financial 
statements. 
 
There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to 
have a material impact on the Agency. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 
Foreign currency translation 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
Items in the separate financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The separate financial statements are 
presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is Invest Saint Lucia’s functional and presentation currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than Eastern Caribbean dollars are translated 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities and transactions 
denominated in currencies other than Eastern Caribbean dollars are translated at the rate of exchange ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses are charged to the separate statement of 
surplus or deficit. 
 
Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities classified as fair value through profit or loss  
financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve in equity. 
 
Cash 
Cash is carried on the statement of financial position at cost. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, 
cash comprise balances with a maturity period of three months or less from the date of acquisition including 
cash on hand and deposits held on call with banks and bank overdrafts. Bank overdraft, if any, are shown 
within borrowings in current liabilities on the separate statement of financial position. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 
Financial assets 
A financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are classified and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost if it meets both the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 
• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 

flows; and 
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
A debt instrument is measured at initial recognition at fair value and is classified and subsequently measured 
at FVOCI only if it meets both the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL. 
 
• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 

cash flows and selling financial assets; and  
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading Invest Saint Lucia may irrevocably 
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis.  All other equity investments are classified as measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial 
recognition, Invest Saint Lucia may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
 
A financial asset is classified into one of these categories on initial recognition. However, for financial assets 
held at initial application, the business model assessments is based on facts and circumstances at that date. 
Also, IFRS 9 permits new elective designations at FVTPL or FVOCI to be made on the date of initial 
application and permits or requires revocation of previous FVTPL election at the date of initial application 
depending on the facts and circumstances at that date. 
 
Offsetting financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 
Impairment of financial assets 
Invest Saint Lucia recognizes loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on the following financial 
assets that are not measured at FVTPL: 
 
Trade and other receivables 
Invest Saint Lucia has adopted the assumption of full lifetime expected credit losses for the factory and 
Pointe Seraphine rental portfolios. Based on the allowances of IFRS 9, a practical expedient in the form of 
a provision matrix has been used. 
 
The provision matrix formulae, per rental type, per ageing category is as follows: 
 
a) Lifetime expected credit loss (LECL) = historic credit loss rate (HCLR) *(Outstanding receivables 

balance-security deposits) *macroeconomic variables. 
b) HCLR = % of ageing category which migrates to over 90 days. 
 
IFRS 9 states that the definition of default must be consistent with that used for internal credit risk 
management purposes. Based on Invest Saint Lucia’s policy, any debt which is outstanding for more than 
90 days is considered to be in default Therefore, based on this policy and in order to fulfill the requirements 
of IFRS 9, Invest Saint Lucia has adopted a historical loss rate per ageing category which reflects the 
percentage of the ageing category which migrates to over 90 days. 
 
The application of macroeconomic variables then adjusts the HCLR to take into account any future loss 
implications. Invest Saint Lucia has performed a historical trend analysis between economic variables which 
directly contributes towards the growth in the over 90 days portfolio (unemployment rates, inflation rates 
and the gross domestic product) and has applied these potential relations to forecasted economic statistics. 
 
For all other classifications of receivables, Invest Saint Lucia utilized a general approach where expected 
credit losses are to be based on either 12-month or lifetime expected credit losses; where lifetime expected 
losses result in instances where credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
As is allowed by IFRS 9.5.15, Invest Saint Lucia elected to adopt the simplified approach of measuring loss 
allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses for all accounts receivables. The methodology 
reflects: 
 
(a) an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible 

outcomes; 
(b) the time value of money; and 
(c) reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting 

date, about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
 
The general formula which achieves the above requirements is: 
 
Probability of default (PD)*loss given default (LGD) *exposure at default (EAD) *effective interest rate 
(EI) *future implications of macroeconomic variable movements (MVar). 
 
The macroeconomic variables used were GDP, inflation, average lending rates and cruise ship arrivals. 

  



52    INVEST SAINT LUCIA ANNUAL REPORT 2019

(12) 

INVEST SAINT LUCIA 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 
 
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars) 

 

 
2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 
Debt securities 
Invest Saint Lucia has based ECL on either 12 months or lifetime expected credit losses, lifetime being used 
where credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition under IFRS 9. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are those entities over which Invest Saint Lucia has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost less any provision for impairment. 
 
Land developments 
The land developments comprise of inventory of land held for development and costs, both actual and 
estimated, associated with development. The development costs is written to cost of sales on the basis of 
land sold in each development in each year. Land development is valued at the lower of cost and net 
realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
selling costs. 
 
Land inventory 
Land for sale consists of agriculture and undeveloped land that have been vested by the Government of Saint 
Lucia which is for sale to investors.  Inventory of land for sale is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less selling costs. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
Invest Saint Lucia and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the separate statement of surplus or deficit during the financial period in which they are 
incurred. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using either the reducing balance or straight-line method to allocate the cost less 
salvage over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Leasehold improvements 2% Straight line method
Motor vehicles 20% Straight line method
Furniture and fittings 10% Reducing balance method
Office equipment 12% Reducing balance method
Engineering equipment 12% Reducing balance method

 
 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the term of the lease and expected extension period. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 
Intangible assets  
Software are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. These costs are 
amortized over their estimated useful life of 3 years, using reducing balance method.  
 
Investment properties 
Investment properties principally comprises of a shopping complex and factory shells. Investment property 
is carried at cost, held for long-term rental yields and capital gains and is not occupied by Invest Saint Lucia. 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write-off the cost of each building and leasehold 
improvement to their residual value over their estimated useful lives at a rate of 2%.  Land is not depreciated.  
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
At the end of each reporting period, all non-financial assets are assessed for any indicators of impairment.  
If an indicator exists, the asset’s recoverable amount must be calculated. An impairment loss is recognized 
for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash generating units). 
 
Trade payables 
Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. 
 
Borrowings 
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 
the redemption value is recognized in the separate statement of surplus or deficit over the period of the 
borrowing using the effective interest method. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless Invest Saint Lucia has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 
 
Contributed capital 
Contributed capital represents cash, investments, land and buildings vested by the Government of Saint 
Lucia in Invest Saint Lucia and are all recognized at fair value in the period in which they are vested. 
 
Leased assets  
As described in Note 2, the Agency has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and 
therefore comparative information has not been restated. This means comparative information is still 
reported under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. 
 
Accounting policy applicable from January 1, 2019 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 
The Agency as a lessee 
For any contracts entered into on or after January 1, 2019, the Agency considers whether a contract is, or 
contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset 
(the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition the Agency 
assesses whether the contract meets thress key evaluations which are whether; 
 
• The contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly 

specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Agency 
• The Agency has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified 

asset throughout the period of use. The Agency assesses whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for 
what purposes’ the asset is used throughout the period of use. 

 
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee 
At lease commencement date, the Agency recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance 
sheet. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease 
liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Agency, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove 
the asset at the end of the lease term. The Agency also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when 
such indicators exist. 
 
At the commencement date, the Agency measures the lease liability which is made up of fixed payments 
(including in substance fixed), amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and 
payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised. 
 
Subsequent to initial measurement, the initial liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for 
interest. It is measured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are any changes in in-substance 
fixed payments. 
 
When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or 
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero. 
 
The Agency has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using practical 
expedients. Instead of recognizing a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these 
are recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  
 
On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been included in property, plant and 
equipment and lease liabilities have been included in trade and other payables.  
 
All other leases are treated as operating leases. Where the Agency is a lessee, payments on operating lease 
agreements are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated costs, such 
as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 
The Agency as a Lessor  
The requirements for lessor accounting have remained largely unchanged. Instance where Invest Saint Lucia 
is the lessor, rental income is recorded as revenue and the related building is reflected as investment 
properties.  
 
Revenue and expense recognition 
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 
services, net of discounts in the ordinary course of Invest Saint Lucia's activities.  
 
To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Agency follows a 5-step process: 
 

i) identifying the contract with the customer; 
ii) identifying the performance obligation; 
iii) determining the transaction price; 
iv) allocating the transaction price to the performance obligation; and, 
v) recognising revenue when/as performance obligations are satisfied. 

 
Revenue is recognized as follows: 
 
(i) Land sales 
Income from land sales is recognized upon issuance of a deed of sale and when costs incurred or to be 
incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. Deposits received prior to the completion of 
the transaction are recorded as advanced deposits in deferred revenue. 
 
(ii) Rental income 
Rental income is recorded on an accrual basis. 
 
(iii) Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. 
 
(iv) Other income 
Other income is recorded on an accrual basis. 
 
(v) Interest income 
Interest income is recognized on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest rate method. 
 
(vi) Expenses 
Expenses are recognized when incurred under the accrual basis. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 
Cost of land sold 
The cost of land sold is determined on the basis of the cost of land inventory plus development costs of 
unsold land apportioned over the total area sold each year for each project. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions, if any, are recognized, when Invest Saint Lucia has a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and 
the amount has been reliably estimated. 
 
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. 
 
Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities represent possible obligations and are disclosed in the separate financial statements 
unless the possibility of the outflow of resources embodying the economic benefit is remote. A contingent 
asset is not r ecognized in the separate financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable. 
 
Subsequent events 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about Invest Saint Lucia’s position at the 
reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in Invest Saint Lucia's separate financial statements. Material 
post year-end events which are not adjusting events are disclosed. 
 
Comparative figures 
Where necessary, certain prior year comparative figures have been changed to conform to the changes in the 
current year’s presentation. 
 
 

3 Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Invest Saint Lucia makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that may 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are discussed below: 
 
Provision for future development costs 
Invest Saint Lucia’s Properties Management Department along with outsourced consultants determined the 
future estimated costs of infrastructural development of land held for resale. This was based on projected 
expenditure required to complete development in order to facilitate the transfer to the purchaser. 
 
Management reassesses the estimate at each year end and adjusts the provision for future development costs 
as necessary. 
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4 Financial risk management 

 
In accordance with provisions of International Financial Reporting Standard No. 7, disclosures are required 
regarding credit risks, liquidity risks, market risks and the fair value of financial assets and liabilities. 
 
(a)    Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligation under a financial instrument or customer 
contract, leading to a financial loss. Invest Saint Lucia is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities 
primarily trade receivables.  
 
Based on the allowances of IFRS9, a practical expedient in the form of a provision matrix has been used to 
recognize ECLs for the major trade receivable. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date 
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due 
for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e, customer type). The calculation 
reflects the probability – weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable information that is available at 
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows: 
 

  2019 2018 
 Notes $ $ 
    

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) 5 3,268,842 5,439,279 
Trade and other receivables     
(excluding prepayments) 6 29,414,062 1,625,299 
Investment securities 8 17,185,101 23,370,493 

    
  49,868,005 30,435,071 

 
The total impairment provision for trade and other receivables recognized in the separate statement of surplus 
or deficit is $300,184 (2018 - $272,325). Further information on the impairment allowance for trade and 
other receivables is disclosed in Note 6. The credit quality of the portfolio of trade and other receivables 
which were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted 
by Invest Saint Lucia. 
 
Trade and other receivables neither past due or impaired: 

 
  Other 

  Receivables 
  $ 

   
As at December 31, 2019   
Customers with no history of default  771,067 
   
   
As at December 31, 2018   
Customers with no history of default  1,125,410 
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

 
(b)    Liquidity risk 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying 
business, Invest Saint Lucia attempts to maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under 
committed credit facilities coupled with support from the Government of Saint Lucia. 
 
Management monitors Invest Saint Lucia’s liquidity position on the basis of expected cash flow. 
 
The table below analyses Invest Saint Lucia’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the separate statement of financial position to the contractual maturity dates. The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  

Less than Between Between Over
1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years 5 years Total

$ $ $ $ $

At December 31, 2019
Borrowings              289,029         578,058            755,152     2,895,891           4,518,130 
Trade and other payables           3,858,610                    -                       -                   -           3,858,610 

          4,147,639         578,058            755,152     2,895,891           8,376,740 
At December 31, 2018
Borrowings                289,029          578,058             867,087       3,179,735             4,913,909 
Trade and other payables             4,715,204                    -                       -                   -             4,715,204 

            5,004,233          578,058             867,087       3,179,735             9,629,113 

 

(c)    Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market rates, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity 
prices will affect the value of Invest Saint Lucia’s assets, the amount of its liabilities and/or Invest Saint 
Lucia’s income. Invest Saint Lucia is exposed to market risk on its investments. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
Changes in foreign currency rates may expose Invest Saint Lucia to currency risk. Invest Saint Lucia's 
borrowings disclosed in Note 13, are denominated in United States dollars (US$). The exchange rate of the 
Eastern Caribbean dollars (EC$) to the US$ is formally pegged at EC$2.70 = US$1.00. Management does 
not believe that significant exposure to foreign currency risk exists as at December 31, 2019. 
 
Interest rate risk 
Differences in contractual re-pricing or maturity dates and changes in interest rates may expose Invest Saint 
Lucia to interest rate risk. Invest Saint Lucia's exposure and interest rate risk on its financial assets and 
liabilities are disclosed in Notes 5 and 13 and this is not significant as at December 31, 2019. 
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

 
Price risk 
Invest Saint Lucia is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by Invest Saint Lucia 
and measured at fair value.  Invest Saint Lucia is not exposed to commodity price risk.  
 
At December 31, 2019, if investment securities had been 10% higher/lower, with all other variables held 
constant, the change in fair value would not be significant. 
 
(d)     Capital management  
Invest Saint Lucia’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide benefits for its stakeholders and to maintain a strong capital base to support the 
development of its business. Management may sell assets to reduce debts if necessary. 
 
(e)     Fair values of financial assets and liabilities  
 
(i) Financial instruments not measured at fair value 
Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed upon between 
knowledgeable and willing parties, who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by quoted 
market values. 
 
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not 
valued at fair value. 
 

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
Value Value Value Value

$ $ $ $
Trade and other receivables             30,216,387               30,216,387        2,512,373        2,512,373 
Investment securities: loans and receivables             17,185,101               16,106,384      23,370,493      22,124,251 
Trade and other payables              3,858,610                 3,858,610        4,751,204        4,751,204 
Borrowings              4,231,115                 4,256,280        4,433,482        4,455,897 

            55,491,213               54,437,661      35,067,552      33,843,725 

20182019

 
 
For all other current assets and liabilities, carrying value approximates fair value as at year end. 
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

 
(e) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities…continued 
 
(ii) Financial instruments measured at fair value 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value. The different levels have been defined 
as follows: 
 
• Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. A market is 

regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, 
industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

 
• Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly. 
 
• Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs).  
 
Invest Saint Lucia considers relevant and observable that are not based on valuations where possible. 
 
The following table presents Invest Saint Lucia’s assets that are measured at fair value. 
 
Assets measured at fair value: 
 

Level 2 Level 3
Note $ $

At December 31, 2019
Financial assets: Investment securities 8 255,000 601,860

At December 31, 2018
Financial assets: Investment securities 8 268,800 601,860  
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

 
(ii) Financial instruments measured at fair value 
The following table presents Invest Saint Lucia’s assets and liabilities for which fair values are 
disclosed: 

Level 3
$

At December 31, 2019
Investment properties 100,558,409

At December 31, 2018
Investment properties 100,558,409
 

 
 
5 Cash  

2019 2018
$ $

Cash on hand 2,000                                    1,250 
Cash at bank - current account 2,406,442                       4,290,845 
Cash at bank - savings account 862,400                          1,148,434 

              3,270,842           5,440,529 

 
 
$393,219 (2018 - $393,219) of the savings account balance has been placed in escrow. The weighted 
average effective interest rate on the savings account at December 31, 2019 was 0.50% (2018 – 
0.50%). As such, these amounts are not available for the day-to-day operations of Invest Saint Lucia. 
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6 Trade and other receivables 

2019 2018
$ $

Trade receivables                 4,183,526           3,879,690 
Provision for impairment of trade receivables                (3,689,329)         (3,406,859)

Trade receivables (net)                    494,197              472,831 

Other receivables               29,539,037           1,753,926 
Provision for impairment of other receivables                   (619,172)            (601,458)

Other receivables (net)               28,919,865           1,152,468 

Prepayments                    802,325              887,074 

Total trade and other receivables               30,216,387           2,512,373 

 
 
The movement in Invest Saint Lucia’s provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is as 
follows:  
 

2019 2018
$ $

At beginning of year        4,008,317            3,425,946 
Effect of change in accounting policy for IFRS 9                      -               310,046 
Impairment loss recognised  as per IFRS 9           300,184               272,325 

At end of year        4,308,501            4,008,317 
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7 Land inventory and land developments 

2019 2018
$ $

 Land inventory        20,693,354         21,079,191 
 

 
Land inventory amounting to $145,313 was affected during the year (2018- $1,920,485 due to prior year 
restatement). The movement in land inventory during the year is as follows: 
 

2019 2018
$ $

At beginning of year     21,079,191          14,319,612 
Lands vested in Agency     27,169,000            5,539,946 
Lands sold    (27,624,858)                 (6,579)
Adjustments made            70,021            1,226,212 

    20,693,354          21,079,191  
 
 
Land Development: 
 

2019 2018
$ $

 Land inventory       21,617,549         14,593,813 

 
 
The movement in land development during the year is as follows: 
 

2019 2018
$ $

At beginning of year 14,593,813              11,535,544 
Additions -                            9,727,184 
Lands sold (11,810)                        (20,265)

       7,035,546          (6,648,650)

At end of year      21,617,549          14,593,813 
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8 Investment securities 

 
2019 2018

$ $

Fair value through profit or loss
Equity securities-unlisted 601,860                                601,860 

Equity security-listed 255,000                                268,800 

             856,860                     870,660 

 
 
 

$ $

Current                        -                        - 

Non-current             856,860             870,660 

 
 
 

2019 2018
$ $

Amortised cost 
Debt securites-unlisted            17,249,524            23,443,506 

Allowance for impairment                 (64,423)                 (73,013)

           17,185,101            23,370,493 
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8 Investment securities…continued 

 
2019 2018

$ $

Current         15,206,575         13,359,566 
Non-current           1,978,526         10,010,927 

17,185,101       23,370,493        
 
 
The movement in Invest Saint Lucia’s provision for impairment of investment securities is as follows:  
 

2019 2018
$ $

Impairment provision as at January 01, 2019             73,013                         - 
Effect of change in accounting policy for IFRS 9                      -                55,000 

            73,013                55,000 
(Reversal of impairment loss)/Impairment 
for the year 

            (8,590)                18,013 

Impairment provision at December 31             64,423                73,013 
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8 Investment securities…continued 

 
The movement in investments securities financial assets during the year are as follows: 
 

Amortised FVTPL
Cost

$ $
At December 31, 2019
At beginning of year 23,370,493      870,660          
Purchases 2,072,674                             - 
Redemptions (8,266,656)                            - 
Reversal of impairment loss/Impairment loss for the year 8,590                                   - 
Fair value loss during the year                       - (13,800)          

At end of year 17,185,101      856,860          

At December 31, 2018
At beginning of year 27,240,482      880,260          
Amount restated through opening retained earning (55,000)           -                    
Purchases 18,181,192                           - 
Redemptions (21,978,168)                          - 
Impairment loss for the year (18,013)                                - 
Fair value loss during the year                       - (9,600)            

At end of year 23,370,493      870,660          
 

 
Debt securities bear interest rates ranging from 1.50% to 7% (2018: 1.50% - 7%) per annum, and mature 
between January 20, 2020 to November 23, 2024. For the purpose of impairment assessment, the investment 
in debt securities are considered to have low credit risk as the counterparties to those investments have not 
defaulted on their obligation in the past. Accordingly, for the purpose of impairment assessment for these 
debts securities instruments, the loss allowance is measured at an amount to 12 month expected credit losses 
(ECL). 
 
Unlisted equity securities are carried at cost. Invest Saint Lucia is not able to reliably measure the fair value 
of the equity securities since the shares are not traded in an active market and the future cash flows relating 
to the securities cannot be reliably estimated. The investments are measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. 
 
Listed equity securities represent shareholdings in Eastern Caribbean Financial Holdings Agency Limited.  
The fair value of this security instrument is based on closing quoted market price on the last market day of 
the financial year. 
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9 Investment in subsidiaries 

Provision for Net Net
No. of Shareholding Cost Impairment 2019 2018

Location Shares % $ $ $ $

Dennery Farmco Limited  St. Lucia 456,000      100 4,560,000 (4,560,000)                         -                    - 
St. Lucia Livestock 
Development Co. Ltd.  St. Lucia 1,600,000    100 1,804,221 (1,804,221)                         -                    - 
National Landco. Ltd.  St. Lucia 3                100 1 -                    1 1

6,364,222 (6,364,221)      1 1

 
 
 
On January 15, 2007, on the instructions of the Government of Saint Lucia, Invest Saint Lucia’s 
shareholdings in St. Lucia Livestock Development Co. Ltd. were to be transferred to the Ministry of 
Agriculture. As at December 31, 2019, the required regulatory processes to effect the transfer of St. Lucia 
Livestock Development Co. Ltd’s shares remained outstanding. This company is dormant and presently does 
not conduct any business activities. 
 
The above companies are dormant, with no business activity, but still exist legally. 
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10 Property, plant and equipment 

Leasehold Furniture Office Engineering Motor Right-of-use
Improvements  and fittings equipment Equipment vehicles asset Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

As at December 31, 2017            979,689           337,130          2,482,249                 1,869            241,398                      -     4,042,335 
Cost          (220,604)          (149,892)        (1,457,854)                  (196)           (102,185)                      -    (1,930,731)

Accumulated depreciation
           759,085           187,238          1,024,395                 1,673            139,213                      -     2,111,604 

For the year ended December 31, 2018
Opening net book value            759,085           187,238          1,024,395                 1,673            139,213     2,111,604 

Additions in the year              11,619        1,845,735             209,808                 9,719                        -                      -     2,076,881 

Disposals in the period                        -                       -                        -                        -             (66,290)                      -         (66,290)

Accumulated depreciation on disposals                        -                       -                        -                        -              66,290                      -          66,290 

Depreciation charge for the year            (19,787)          (101,749)           (128,728)               (1,109)             (35,021)                      -       (286,394)

Closing net book value            750,917        1,931,224          1,105,475               10,283            104,192                      -     3,902,091 

As at December 31, 2018
Cost            991,308        2,182,865          2,692,057               11,588            175,108                      -     6,052,926 

Accumulated depreciation          (240,391)          (251,641)        (1,586,582)               (1,305)             (70,916)                      -    (2,150,835)

           750,917        1,931,224          1,105,475               10,283            104,192                      -     3,902,091 

For the year ended December 31, 2019
Opening net book value            750,917        1,931,224          1,105,475               10,283            104,192                      -     3,902,091 
Additions in the year              39,823             85,372             109,560                        -            214,425          878,010     1,327,190 
Depreciation charge for the year            (19,892)          (189,916)           (133,035)               (1,168)             (63,889)        (126,069)       (533,969)

Closing net book value            770,848        1,826,680          1,082,000                 9,115            254,728          751,941     4,695,312 

As at December 31, 2019
Cost         1,031,131        2,268,237          2,801,617               11,588            389,533          878,010     7,380,116 
Accumulated depreciation          (260,283)          (441,557)        (1,719,617)               (2,473)           (134,805)        (126,069)    (2,684,804)

           770,848        1,826,680          1,082,000                 9,115            254,728          751,941     4,695,312 
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11 Other assets 
 

Software 
$

As at December 31, 2017
Cost           164,648 
Accumulated depreciation          (136,783)

            27,865 

For the year ended December 31, 2018
Opening net book value             27,865 
Additions in the year             78,934 
Depreciation charge for the year           (35,376)

Closing net book value             71,423 

As at December 31, 2018
Cost           243,582 
Accumulated depreciation          (172,159)

            71,423 
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Opening net book value 71,423
Additions in the year -                 
Depreciation charge for the year (30,127)

Closing net book value 41,296

As at December 31, 2019
Cost 243,582
Accumulated depreciation (202,286)

41,296
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12 Investment properties 

Construction
Land Building in progress Total

$ $ $ $

As at December 31, 2017
Cost           5,742,781             43,547,337               3,874,094             53,164,212 
Accumulated depreciation                       -            (20,235,718)                            -            (20,235,718)

          5,742,781             23,311,619               3,874,094             32,928,494 

For the period ended  December 31, 2018
Opening net book value           5,742,781             23,311,619               3,874,094             32,928,494 
Additions in the year                       -                  390,961               1,035,062               1,426,023 
Transfers                       -               3,731,501              (3,731,501)                            - 
Disposals in the year                       -                (294,362)                (142,593)                (436,955)
Accumulated depreciation on disposals                       -                   94,759                            -                   94,759 
Depreciation charge for the year                       -                (931,359)                            -                (931,359)
Transfers to Property, Plant and Equipment                       -                            -              (1,035,062)              (1,035,062)

Closing net book value           5,742,781             26,303,119                            -             32,045,900 

As at December 31, 2018
Cost           5,742,781             47,375,437                            -             53,118,218 
Accumulated depreciation                       -            (21,072,318)                            -            (21,072,318)

          5,742,781             26,303,119                            -             32,045,900 

For the period ended  December 31, 2019
Opening net book value         5,742,781           26,303,119                            -           32,045,900 
Additions in the year                   581             1,831,215             1,607,185             3,438,981 
Transfers                       -                            -                            -                            - 
Disposals in the year                       -              (175,805)                            -              (175,805)
Accumulated depreciation on disposals                       -                  53,201                            -                  53,201 
Depreciation charge for the year                       -              (989,838)                            -              (989,838)

Closing net book value         5,743,362           27,021,892             1,607,185           34,372,439 

As at December 31, 2019
Cost         5,743,362           49,030,847             1,607,185           56,381,394 
Accumulated depreciation                       -         (22,008,955)                            -         (22,008,955)

        5,743,362           27,021,892             1,607,185           34,372,439 
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12 Investment properties…continued 

 
Invest Saint Lucia uses the cost model for measurement of its investment properties.  Investment 
properties in the amount of $1,800,000 have been pledged as security for the loans in Note 13. 
 
The following amounts have been recognized in the separate statement of surplus or deficit: 
 

2019 2018
$ $

Property department: 
Operating lease - rental income          3,151,238          3,242,824 

Point Seraphine:
Operating lease - rental income          3,190,636          3,235,459 
Facility fees             245,367             243,867 

         3,436,003          3,479,326 

         6,587,241          6,722,150 

  
 
Invest Saint Lucia’s investment property consists of properties at Pointe Seraphine and factory 
shells. The total fair value of the investment property is $100,558,409, determined using the 
replacement cost and sales comparable methods as provided by professionally qualified valuers. The 
Pointe Seraphine valuation was provided on August 14, 2013 and the factory shells valuation was 
provided on March 31, 2014.  
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13 Borrowings 

2019 2018
$ $

Bank of Saint Lucia Limited
8% loan repayable in monthly installments of $17,202 
until 2024                771,827           910,058 

Caribbean Development Bank
2% loan repayable in quarterly installments of $20,652
until July 2031                857,827           921,963 

Government of St. Lucia             2,601,461        2,601,461 

Total borrowings             4,231,115        4,433,482 
Less: current portion               (210,432)         (197,231)

Non current portion             4,020,683        4,236,251 
 

 
Bank of Saint Lucia Limited 
This loan is secured by a hypothecary instrument over 42,096 sq. ft. of land with a factory thereon 
at Bisee, Castries, St. Lucia. 
 
Caribbean Development Bank 
This loan is guaranteed by the Government of Saint Lucia.  The loan is denominated in US$ 317,713 
at December 31, 2019 (2018 – US$341,468). 
 
Government of Saint Lucia 
The Government of Saint Lucia loans were obtained through the Caribbean Development Bank for 
which Invest Saint Lucia acted as the executing agency. These loans are guaranteed by the 
Government of Saint Lucia and are non-interest bearing. The loan is not expected to be called within 
the next 12 months.  
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13 Borrowings…continued 

 
The maturity of non-current borrowings is as follows: 

2019 2018
$ $

Between 1 and 2 years          464,191               434,714 
Between 3 and 5 years          484,470               654,291 
Over 5 years       3,072,022            3,147,246 

      4,020,683            4,236,251 

 
The weighted average effective interest rate at the year-end are as follows: 
 

2019 2018
% %

Bank borrowings               4.80                  4.90 

 
 
 
Invest Saint Lucia’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at year end is as follows: 
 
 

2019 2018
$ $

Caribbean Development Loan 011SFRORSTL3: 
USD317,713 (December 2018 - USD341,269)         857,527              921,963 

 
 
Invest Saint Lucia has a bank overdraft facility for $2,350,000, the draw-down of which is secured 
by Invest Saint Lucia’s investment in the Windward and Leeward Brewery Limited. The facility was 
undrawn at year end. 
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14 Trade and other payables 

2019 2018
$ $

Other payables       1,919,207            2,400,362 
Security deposits          746,112               720,191 
Accrued fund          506,203               952,988 
Trade payables          515,910               536,190 
Retention fund          171,178               141,473 

      3,858,610            4,751,204 

 
15 Leases 

 
Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 
 
 

2019 2018
$ $

Current         286,249                         - 
Non-current         471,909                         - 

        758,158                         - 

 
The Agency has leases for office space rentals. With the exception of short-term leases and leases of low-
value underlying assets, each lease is reflected on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability. Variable lease payments which do not depend on an index or a rate are excluded from the initial 
measurement of the lease liability and asset. The Agency classifies its right-of-use assets in a consistent 
manner to its property, plant and equipment (Note 10). The Agency’s leasing activities consist of 2 office 
space rentals, with average terms of 3 years and average remaining terms of 2 years. None of the leases have 
extension options, options to purchase, or termination options. None of the leases include variable payments 
linked to an index. 
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15 Leases…continued 

 
The lease liabilities were secured by the underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments for the year 
ended December 31, 2019 were as follows:  
 
 

Less than Between Over
1 year 2 and 5 years 5 years Total

$ $ $ $

At December 31, 2019
Lease payments                316,188             491,980                    -                808,168 
Finance charges                (29,939)              (20,071)                  -                  (50,010)

               286,249             471,909                    -                758,158  
 
Lease payments not recognized as a liability 
The Agency has elected not to recognize a lease liability for a lease which expired during the initial year of 
application of IFRS 16. Payments of $196,792 made on this lease were expensed on a straight-line basis. 
There are no other short-term leases or leases for low value assets. At December 31, 2019, the Agency had 
not committed to leases which had not yet commenced.  
 
 

16 Provision for future development costs 
 

2019 2018
$ $

Current       8,718,575            5,966,017 
Non-current portion       5,812,384            3,977,344 

    14,530,959            9,943,361 

 
 

17 Customer deposits 
2019 2018
$ $

Advance deposits 3,925,689 2,757,055  
 
Advance deposits represent amounts received from customers before the completion of the sale of lands. 
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18 Related party balances and transactions 

 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party by making financial and operational decisions. 
 

2019 2018
$ $

Due to subsidiary
National Landco. Ltd. 499,185 850,598  
 
The amounts due are non-interest bearing, and the subsidiary will not be demanding payment within the next 
year. 
 
 

19 Contributed capital 
2019 2018

$ $

Investments and grants         6,281,356            6,281,356 
Cash and cash equivalents         1,434,821            1,434,821 

Lands:
Micoud       27,619,000                         - 
Vieux Fort       19,920,892          19,579,303 
Point Seraphine         4,051,080            4,051,080 
Laborie           962,493              962,493 
Bisee           247,879              247,879 
La Toc           100,000              100,000 
Dennery             32,000                32,000 
Cantonement         5,711,329            6,081,629 
Beauchamp Industrial         2,670,524            2,815,837 
Buildings:
Odsan           406,729              388,581 
Vieux-Fort           154,275              154,275 

      69,592,378          42,129,254  
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19 Contributed capital…continued 
 

Contributed capital assets represents cash, investments, lands and buildings vested by the Government of 
Saint Lucia and are recognized at the fair value at the date on which they were vested. During the 2019 
financial year was a transfer of Micoud lands valued at $27,169,000, which were sold during the year, for 
which proceeds will be held by Invest Saint Lucia. To date, $6,720,379 of cash has been received, and there 
is a receivable figure of $20,448,621 included in other receivables as at year end. There were adjustments to 
the contributed capital of $155,826 due to adjustment of the value of certain lands vested by the Agency.  
 
Included in investments and grants is an amount of $478,236 received from the European Development Fund 
Grant.  

 
20 Vested property 

 
The Government of St. Lucia Cabinet Conclusion No. 842 of 2000, agreed to vest eleven (11) warehouses 
and one (1) administrative building at a total value of $17,000,000, located in the Free Zone Management 
Authority (“FZMA”). The land and other contiguous parcels totaling approximately 15.3 acres are to be 
transferred by Invest Saint Lucia to the FZMA. 
 
The value of the land and the compensation payable to Invest Saint Lucia has not yet been agreed and the 
relevant vesting orders have not been executed. Invest Saint Lucia is intending to enter into a twenty-five 
(25) year Emphyteutic lease arrangement with the FZMA instead of outright vesting. To this end a draft 
lease agreement was prepared and forwarded for signature. This transaction has not yet been concluded and 
is therefore not reflected in the separate financial statements. 
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21 Departmental operating profit 

 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
$ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue
Land sales      27,949,176        2,627,912                      -                      -      27,949,176        2,627,912 
Operating lease - rental income        3,151,238        3,242,824        3,190,635        3,235,459        6,341,873        6,478,283 
Facility fees                      -                      -           245,367           243,867           245,367           243,867 

     31,100,414        5,870,736        3,436,002        3,479,326      34,536,416        9,350,062 

Direct costs
Cost of land sales     (27,184,536)       (1,510,572)                      -                      -     (27,184,536)       (1,510,572)
Operational costs       (3,354,881)       (5,042,327)       (2,516,120)       (2,544,487)       (5,871,001)       (7,586,814)

    (30,539,417)       (6,552,899)       (2,516,120)       (2,544,487)     (33,055,537)       (9,097,386)

Departmental operating profit           560,997          (682,163)           919,882           934,839        1,480,879           252,676 

Properties Department Pointe Seraphine Total
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22 Expenses by nature 

2019 2018
Notes $ $

Cost of land sales 27,184,536             1,510,572 
Employee benefit expenses 23 3,955,478               3,522,727 
Repairs and maintenance 931,234                  1,858,107 
Depreciation 10,11,12 1,553,934               1,253,130 
Impairment loss-land development -                            914,212 
Security 815,581                     797,587 
Utilities 449,902                     420,931 
Legal and professional fees 1,545,909                  386,917 
Travelling and entertainment 577,303                     351,686 
Office rental 196,792                     331,188 
Impairment loss-Trade and other receivables 300,184                     272,325 
Office expenses 214,200                     228,119 
Insurance 236,358                     220,220 
Promotions and publicity 825,022                     218,401 
Advertising 134,441                     166,648 
Members allowances 77,403                        62,520 
Motor vehicle expenses 47,425                        31,849 
Bank charges 38,198                        27,540 

Reversal of impairment loss/Impairment loss-investment 
securities (8,590)           18,013             

Printing and stationery 38,758                        16,426 
Activities 20,939                        27,719 
Settlement costs 63,955                      225,149 

Total direct costs, general and administrative
expenses 39,198,962    12,861,986       

Direct cost - Properties department 30,539,417    6,552,899         
Direct cost - Point Seraphine 2,516,120      3,764,600         
General and administrative expenses 6,143,425      2,544,487         

39,198,962    12,861,986       
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23 Employee benefit expenses 

2019 2018
$ $

Salaries and wages 3,372,419                 3,166,074 
Termination benefits 212,750                         73,931 
Other staff costs 370,309                       332,722 

        3,955,478          3,572,727 

The average number of employees at December 31, 2019 was 51 (2018 - 46). 
 
Key management compensation 

2019 2018
$ $

Salaries and wages 831,505       825,032          
Gratuity 115,250       65,181            
Directors fees & allowance 77,043         65,250            

1,023,798    955,463          
 

 
24 Other income - net 

2019 2018
 $  $ 

Dividend income        1,026,376           1,500,501 
Interest income           797,488              950,409 
Sundry other             46,991              103,834 
Sundry administrative income                       -                  2,733 
Sundry industrial estate income                       -                       19 
Recovery of financial assets previously provided for              (1,564)                          - 
Loss on disposal of investment properties          (122,604)            (186,603)

       1,746,687           2,370,893 
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25 Finance cost - net 

2019 2018
 $  $ 

Interest income      11,879               11,502 
Interest expense  (100,693)              (97,442)

   (88,814)              (85,940)

 
 

26 Subsequent event 
 
Subsequent to the end of the financial year, the World Health Organisation declared the COVID-19 
to be a pandemic. The pandemic has resulted in a significant downturn in commercial activity around 
the world. There is currently no cure, and the means most recommended to manage contagion is 
social distancing. This has resulted in several countries embarking on varying degrees of lock-down, 
closure of borders and travel bans. Global travel restrictions have been implemented, all of which 
will have negative global economic consequences. 
 
Invest Saint Lucia is exposed to the potential effects of the COVID-19 on the economic downturn 
that could lead to cancellation of cruise lines calls which are the main customers at the Duty Free 
Pointe Seraphine shopping complex owned and operated by Invest Saint Lucia, resulting in lower 
rental revenues in the short term and greater challenge in the collection of receivables. There has not 
been a sufficient passage of time for management to quantify the impact of the foregoing on its 
financial results at the time of reporting.  
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